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            I started this book in Chikurubi Prison as a love letter to Amanda and I dedicate it to her, but also to everyone who tried to help me escape my two prisons.
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         In this book I have tried to be honest about how I felt about what was being done, or not being done, to get me out. Sometimes I was very angry. So I wrote that. Now that I am out I feel differently. Now I feel just thankful.
         

         There are people who, even today, I find out tried to help me, but I didn’t know. There are people who tried to help me who don’t want me to ever know. There are people who disliked what I was about, but who tried to help me despite that.

         This is for them all. Thank you. However they tried. To Amanda. To Edward, my dear but now dead brother. To my sister, Sarah. To Peter, Jack and Sophie. To all the many others. Big help or small. Successful or not. Thank you, just the same.

         I also want to thank all the many people who have helped with this book. Particularly Jim Nally who worked slavishly as Creative Editor. I gave him 200,000 words that I had written and Jim turned it into the fabulous book it is now. And Adrian Sington. Ever loyal and hardworking agent, without whom all would have been lost, many times over and everyone at John Blake, and mostly John Blake himself. 
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            PROLOGUE
            

         
   
         This is about oil. Oil wars. In Africa mostly.
         

         Many of the words in this book were written by hand. In ballpoint pen on heat-sticky school exercise books, in Chikurubi Maximum Security Prison, Harare, Zimbabwe – Chik Max. When I started to write, this was a love letter to my wife, Amanda. A present for her. The story of our love.

         Prison security stole it.

         Having been started over, and having been again stolen, then again restarted, the letter had become more than the story of our love affair. It was the story of my life, even if our love was the best part of that.

         At any day then, I might have been taken to Equatorial Guinea (EG) to be killed. In Zimbabwe, my trial yet lay ahead. The prosecution was asking for the death penalty. Perhaps, therefore, this book was the only way that I could tell my seven children who I was, what had happened, why I had done these things.

         Perhaps this book was a way that I could make some money for Amanda. She and the children were not eating air. Food costs money. Your man in prison costs money. Lawyers drain away money. Lawyers guzzle money.

         In 2007, security took away the book again. This time I had fooled them. They took away 800 pages of unsorted and muddled drafts, but the best copy was hidden – ready to be smuggled back to England. The book escaped. 
         

      

      
    

  
    
      
         
         
 
         
            CHAPTER ONE
            

         
 
         SATURDAY 6 MARCH 2004: D DAY MINUS TWO: EN ROUTE WONDERBOOM TO PILANSBERG SOUTH AFRICA
 
         Gun-smoke grey vapour rips past; a silver spate river of cloud. A jagged mountain ridgeback lies too close beneath the thin metal hull of our Hawker biz jet. The Kruegersberg Ridge. Rock-crag fingers claw my arse.
         
 
         Up front, the three pilots bicker and shout. Pien is number three. His arse is on the jump seat, but this is his airplane. Pien doesn’t give a toss about ‘cockpit human resource management’ – he knows this Instrument Approach. He knows the Kruegersberg Ridge. The other two have got us below the published approach height; I can see it. That’s a fuck-up. Pien bollocks them. Fly up!
 
         Imprecisely, we are flying a Precision Instrument Approach into Pilanesberg, near Sun City,* a playground for wealthy whites.
         
 
         From our base, Wonderboom, Pretoria, that’s a 20-minute hop. This odd route is part of today’s cunning plan, by which we will fly out of South Africa without being clocked by Immigration. I mean, we will be clocked, of course, but this makes it easier for the powers that be to scrub around their seeming dopiness in failing to detect a large number of mercenaries leaving the country at the same time. That’s if we make it as far as a landing at Pilanesberg.
          
 
         
         
         Rock reefs rip up through cloud below. I don’t need an altimeter; through my port-side window I can see that the ground is too close. The flying is shit; this cockpit tantrum is an omen.
 
         Here I am, about to give the ‘GO GO GO’ on the most risky job of my ramshackle career. The lives of many now hang from this beam of fate: victory or an abyss. But bad omens hurt.
 
         Thankfully, ten minutes later we’ve landed. We ask to clear Pilanesberg Customs and Immigration, outbound. We josh black officialdom. But Pien has bribed them.
 
         We take off for Kinshasa,* Cathedral of Crime, heart of the ‘Heart of Darkness’.
         
 
         We reach the cruise. Our Hawker is straight and level – MACH 0.74, 440 knots TAS (true airspeed), Flight Level 340 (approximately 34,000 feet ASL [above sea level]) – en route from Pilanesberg to Kinshasa. One thousand four hundred and thirty nautical miles (NM); Estimated Time En Route (ETE) 3 hrs 30 mins.
 
         The cabin is fridge chilly. I zip my jacket to the neck. If I tell the air crew to warm us, then in five minutes we’ll be toast. After their toddler tantrums I don’t want to talk to them.
 
         Sitting back in my wanker’s black leather biz jet executive power chair, I close my eyes, breathe deeply, count to ten. I listen to myself. Who I am, what I am about.
 
         Tugged, scratched, I pull myself through tangled jungle thorn. Tearing with haste. Hunted. Never sure which way. Harried, soaked. Sweat and dirt grime. With this piece and that, I’ve cobbled together a monster child. I drag him along with me, through sopping, super-heated thicket. Can I shoot the little bastard now, after all this? I wish. That’s how I feel.
 
         More calm, my mind runs through the night before. Dinner with Frank Thomas. Red-faced, fat. I find him pompous, sly, often drunk. Blimp. He is a liar and traitor by profession – a private spook – but he hasn’t betrayed me yet … and he is clever. It was Frank who introduced me to some of the great and the good in Constantia, Cape Town.
 
          
         Frank is on my payroll for this Op – a Coup d’État against the regime who rule EG: a private-venture Assisted Regime Change (ARC) – all the rage. Frank has already been paid $10,000. He’s my spy and secret agent – into Nigeria, that is – and he’s set up and ready. He’ll go to the capital, Abuja, straight after the coup has struck. He’s already been up there once for me.
         
 
         After that he is earmarked to ride shotgun to those EG locals who will be running security and anti-corruption in the new interim government. That’s the one I’m about to put in power. I hope.
 
         Frank is also my snout into South African National Intelligence (SA NI)* In fact – come to think about it – he is more like one of the Liaison Officers we had in Northern Ireland than a snout. Jesus. An LO* between me and NI? But that’s the way this bloody thing’s going.
         
 
         Frank’s fat face of last night swims in front of my shut eyes. It looks flushed across the dinner table, as if through a Vaselined lens, soft focus, candle-lit.
 
         ‘Well, ha ha ha, Simon! Dicky and the Director…’
 
         ‘The Director, Frank?’
 
         ‘The Director of NI.’
 
         ‘Go on!’
 
         ‘Well, ha ha ha… They think it’s funny how you’re dashing in and out of the country … up and down Africa … up and down like a whore’s drawers.’
 
         This is Frank-speak. Blimp telling me how closely I am being watched.
 
         But I know that I am being closely watched from other – better – sources than Fat Face. For God’s sake: I’ve seen the transcripts of my own phone calls with Amanda, complete with snotty handwritten shit down the margins.
 
         But I’ve also been shown the top-secret INT (intelligence) report that tells SA NI of our coup plot. Of course, that report’s spook author – not Frank – had been unaware that he was in fact telling them about a coup that – in the lush imagination of NI at least – is their coup anyway.
 
         I’d not only seen that intelligence: I’d ordered it to be hacked off the computer of the creep in question, a spook who was sending reports to both MI6 and the CIA.
          
 
          
          
         Frank stuffed in more food.
 
         ‘Mmm… mmm… So, it looks like everything will work out then, doesn’t it?’
 
         ‘What do you mean, Frank?’
 
         ‘I didn’t think it would work.’
 
         ‘You’ve said that before … often.’
 
         ‘I thought that Severo Moto wasn’t well enough known – to become the new President of Equatorial Guinea, I mean. But now you’re going … and everything’s gonna be all right! … So when are you all off, then?’
  
         ‘Tomorrow morning – to Kinshasa – to see the Greek… By the way, thanks for the intro, Frank.’
 
         ‘He’s good … but his partner is the Boss, don’t forget… That means even the Greek has to do what he’s told.’
 
         ‘Sure … then Harare – direct from Kinshasa…’
 
         ‘What are you flying?’
 
         ‘Pien’s Hawker … so we’ve got the range… D Day is the day after…’
 
         We both paused, knowing that D Day might mean D for Death, or – God forbid – capture. For me it might mean that. Not for Frank.
 
         ‘Can you get me the contact details for Severo Moto, Simon? The Director asked me to ask you.’
 
         ‘I’ll clear it – then let you have the numbers tomorrow.’
 
         I think: South Africa’s thumbs-up for what’s going on couldn’t come clearer.
 
         During dinner my mind keeps hopping to Amanda, the woman I love. The child inside Amanda – one she had told me about only a few days before – would be our fourth. I’m in love with her. How many times had the two of us had dinner together here in the Sandton Towers, Jo’burg’s finest?
 
         I think of when I drove the children to school just last week. When I said goodbye to them, the idea like a burr in my head had been that I might never see them again. I may not.
 
         For the thousandth time I scan my virtual instrument panel of this Op: a Coup d’État – a putsch – against the gangster regime who boss EG. My feet are cold: I want to see a red light. One would do. With just one clear red I can jack it in, shoot the bastard child.
 
         We are living dangerously. Sixty-nine mercenaries fly from South Africa to Harare tomorrow night. They will rendezvous in Harare with me and the weapons. Then we fly into Malabo, capital of EG, to execute Plan E: a coup against the gangster regime which tyrannises the poor bastards who scratch away their lives in that oil-rich shithole. Plan E for Easy. Sure.
         
 
         On D Day – the day after tomorrow – in the early hours, we’ll take out EG’s self-appointed President Teodoro Obiang, one of the most brutal tyrants in Africa. We’re flying in with the exiled opposition leader, Severo Moto. He’ll take Obiang’s place. Moto’s mission is to take democracy and the rule of law into EG. To spend their petrodollars on clean water, education programmes, blitzing malaria – the good stuff.
 
         Our plan – our hope – is for a bloodless coup. Just in case it isn’t, we’ll be bombed up with enough guns and ammo to win a war.
 
         It is 2004 and regime change is in vogue. The US and UK governments have just unseated another despot: Saddam Hussein in Iraq. We too are doing the right thing. But, as I feign sleep in the Hawker, it’s as I say. My feet are cold. We are living dangerously.
 
         We’ve already tried this Op once, two weeks ago – Plan D for Daisy. But the little flower fucked up. After Daisy was all over – without tears, just – we had to laugh. The little flower turned into a rolling goat fuck. Better than anything else – giggled the troops – had been the sight of three DC-3s (the WWII vintage Dakota – except these all had the old South African Defence Force (SADF) conversion, their two piston radials each replaced by Pratt & Whitney PT6 gas-turbine prop engines) sitting all afternoon on the apron of Ndola International, Zambia, stuffed with 70 mercenaries and their kit, waiting for the ‘Red ON … Green ON … GO!’ A ‘GO’ that never came.
 
         There are geeky anoraks who would find that sight a bigger, better thrill than Farnborough Bloody Air Show. To others it would smell as fishy as a Grimsby trawler. Not even to the village idiot would it have looked kosher.
 
         And – of course – that meant that the news of this – and of other strange goings-on earlier – had spread; not only to those intelligence agencies betting on the Op, but also to a motley gang of African warlords. Apparatchiks on the Beltway. Whitehall. Rebel armies. Hedge fund managers. Merchant bankers. And, of course, Big Bad Oil – what I call ‘the Barrel Boyz’.
         
 
         If we can make this Op work, then each of these will want a better share of the new EG’s massive oil production. But – if it all turns to rat shit – then they’ll all deny us. Or they’ll switch sides, running to Obiang to tell on us. The tyrant. School playground bully Numero Uno.
         
 
         In West Africa, it’s a war. As everywhere, that war is about oil. We are the pawns in the war. Our Op is one part of a great web of top-flight skulduggery – a part where I am being shouted at. Get a bloody move on – GO!
 
         So, yet again, I scan my virtual instrument panel for this Op. It is how I try to weigh our pros and cons.
 
         China – a nod and a wink – GREEN
 
         US – more than a nod and a wink – GREEN
 
         UK – more than a nod and a wink – GREEN
 
         Spain – telling me: get on with it – FLASHING GREEN
 
         South Africa – telling me: get on with it – FLASHING GREEN
 
         I have five green lights now: the intelligence agencies of China, the US, the UK, Spain and South Africa … although none of them will ever say so.
 
         Two of those greens flash urgently: Spain and South Africa.
 
         But the real deadline now driving this job is 14 March: the Spanish General Election.
 
         My boss in all this (but by no means the Head Shed) has said that, if we are not ‘in’ by the 14th (and it’s already the 6th), then we will have to go to HOLD.
 
         But HOLD won’t be HOLD. HOLD will be Op CANCELLED.
 
         You see: international recognition – for our new interim EG government, with interim President Severo Moto at the helm – is life-and-death critical to the job. Recognition by Spain – as the old colonial power – is the essential diplomatic trigger. It’s the sine qua non to secure the recognition of the US, the EU and then the African Union (AU). Recognition de facto, then de jure: the final seal. Without that international recognition we could all look very silly. Dead. We have a promise of that recognition from the Spanish powers that be. But the Spanish elections are on 14 March and who knows who will be in power after that. That’s why 14th is cut-off day. That’s why we are helter skelter to GO. So all I need, to stop this thing – to give in to my cold feet, to let loose the top of my bottle – is just one red light.
         
 
         But red lights? None. Orange lights? Plenty. Green lights? Five.
 
         Our plan – a long way down the road from Plan A – is now Plan E. E for Excellent. But E is makeshift. Rushed. Shoestring. Intelligence-industry scuttlebutt. Actually, Plan E is a heap of shit.
         
 
         Inside our Hawker, cold air blows against the back of my neck. Up front sit our three tetchy airmen.
 
         Alongside me sits Charles West – a mercenary who’s fought with us, with our set-up Executive Outcomes (EO), from the start – and a man named Lyle, here on Charles’s say-so. Charles tells me that Lyle knows Eastern Bloc weapons and ammo inside out. As does he.
 
         I open my eyes. I had dozed off. We’re coming in to land. Kinshasa is always hairy: very busy, pilot-driven, a Tower of Babel. Air Traffic Control (ATC) has no radar, but, with luck, a handheld radio and a blackboard. There are no radio-navigation aids. Towering A-bomb Cumulonimbus thunderheads menace all around; columns of dragon smoke.
 
         As the Hawker halts, refuellers rush up. So does the Greek. He is the cause of all this efficiency. He drives up in his own 4x4 and parks beside us, airside.
 
         I need a favour from the Greek. I need a back-up aircraft for the Op. The machine earmarked for the job of transporting the South African troops from Wonderboom to Harare, then all of us – plus weapons – on to Malabo is still in the United States.
 
         I bought the machine days ago. Pien sourced an unbelievably good deal. It was an ex-US Air Force VIP Flight Boeing 727-100, going for just $300K. It had low hours and low cycle times (the number of take-offs and landings). And, of course, it had been well looked after. It was dead cheap because it had no civilian engineering paperwork.
         
 
         Trouble is, it’s stuck in Miami, Florida.
 
         I know the Greek’s boss owns a Boeing 727. Frank told me. I know the Greek’s boss has a dislike for Obiang.
 
         We shake hands, then talk.
 
         The Greek is typecast: pasty white, podgy, white nylon shirt, midday stubble. Soft-spoken. He looks out of place among the black African madhouse chaos of Kinshasa International airside. Yet he is the Main Man. He listens, then tells me quickly, quietly: he is willing to let me use his aircraft tomorrow night – a Boeing 727 – for our coup, and at a good price. With as good an answer from the Greek as I could have wished for, we shake on it. I pay cash for the jet fuel, then we fly off: Harare, here we come.
         
 
         Waiting for us at that airport are weapons and ammo, sold to us by a key middleman in the Op, one Captain Brodie. Lately of the Zimbabwe Air Force, Brodie is a veteran of their rape and pillage of the DRC for diamonds – and anything else that’s worth taking. But Brodie is also a senior – but covert – officer in Mugabe’s notorious Central Intelligence Organisation (CIO). Bob’s Gestapo.
 
         These men are good friends of Mark Thatcher – himself one of the high-profile secret backers of this Op. ZDI are supplying me with 100 AK-47s, 20 PKMs, 20 RPG-7s, nine 60mm mortars, six Dragunov sniper rifles, ten 9mm Star handguns and box upon box of mortar bombs, grenades and ammo. Two and a half tons and 250, 000 US dollars worth in all. Charles and Lyle are here with me to make sure we get what we’ve paid for.
 
         Tomorrow will be the first time that the key components of the party attacking EG – men, weapons, the 727 – will be all in the same place.
 
         I had two golden rules for this operation. Golden rule number one is that favourite of the Provisional IRA: men and weapons come together for the least possible time. They meet for the Op – that’s all. Tomorrow golden rule number one is going to be broken, but it’s that or jack this in.
 
         Anyway, my 727 is stuck in Miami. The ferry crew flying the thing to South Africa phoned in. They are Aircraft On the Ground – AO fucking G – with a ‘no fly’ equipment failure. Just to make sure that I go pear-shaped, the ferry captain is also grousing about paperwork. I know that the paperwork can be torn up, then sorted out later. If there is a later.
         
 
         I’ve dealt with ferry crews before. They’re always a waste of rations. They land somewhere sun ’n’ fun – like Miami – then bingo: the airframe goes unserviceable (U/S). What I need to do is get hold of someone in the States who’ll ride shotgun, to get crew and aircraft into the sky. Flying south. Fast.
 
         I know just the man. But Bill comes at a cost, and at a risk. Anthony – my Jo’burg-based PA – is trying to get hold of him, but we’re running out of time.
 
         The whole picture is looking shonky. The plane picture worse. My 727 has to be flown out of Florida for South Africa in the next few hours. Finding a plane is only one of my ‘No Go’ headaches.
         
 
         Already in EG is my number two – Niek du Toit – and an advance party of ten men. Tomorrow night – before me and my 69 men land at Malabo International – his ten must secure the airport’s control tower. This must be done silently. Maybe by force.
 
         With the control tower in his hands, Niek can radio us the all-clear: that our runway is not an ambush. He can also operate the runway lights. Switch on the instrument landing system – if serviceable.
 
         Niek’s team has to get six vehicles onto the airstrip. Those wagons are to carry me and my 69 to our targets. Each vehicle will have a driver and a co-driver from Niek’s team. They will have recced the route to our targets. Palace, police station and barracks, media and communications. The Central Bank. Key Points (KPs). All of these have to be locked down.
 
         Niek is taking the biggest gamble right now. As I keep telling him, by his being in EG so much, he has been putting his head inside the mouth of a hungry lion. A man-eater. Tomorrow night he’ll be taking over an international airport for a plane that may or may not fly in.
 
         If he and his team are captured while we’re in flight, then – maybe – the first we’ll know of that is when we land. By then it will be too late to avoid the water barrels, chains or rocks laid across an ambushed runway. Caltraps.
 
         Another of my old gang is Crause Steyl. He is in the Canary Isles with President designate Severo Moto, plus a chartered King Air 200 turbo prop. His job is to fly our new El Presidente into Malabo, landing a half-hour after us: the cavalry. That just gives us time to form up. Moto’s brass band. His guard of honour.
         
 
         Since day one of this Op – plotting with the Boss in London – golden rule number two has been that we must not move around Africa without our ‘Pres des’ in tow. If we are caught without Moto on board, then we are the big bad mercenaries. They’ll throw away the key. With Moto, then, what we are about is clear and in the flesh. Black flesh. Then we are the bodyguard – the close protection – such that Severo Moto can take his place as an interim President, pending free and fair elections. We are PC.
 
         Tomorrow, golden rule number two, like number one, is going to be broken. But it’s either that or jack in the Op. Fucking hell.
         
 
         What my men don’t know – what only the Boss and I know – is that, inside Obiang’s fortified palace, courtiers and security disloyal to him are primed and ready. As soon as they get the Boss’s phone call, the plotters will arrest Obiang, his closest supporters and any security people still loyal. That call will only be made once he knows that I’m gear-up out of Harare, en route to Malabo. With airport and palace held, the EG army – mutinous, disloyal, and now caught off-guard – will either surrender or run into the jungle.
 
         Mark Thatcher – who is a helicopter pilot and a yachtsman – has our Escape & Evasion (E&E) plan. I’ve been through it with him more than once and he is gung-ho. It’s Mickey Mouse but it’s better than nothing.
 
         In case it all goes wrong on the night, our opening night in EG, we’ve agreed frequencies, timings and days, locations, signals – either for a helicopter or for a boat. For Mark to come in and pick us up.
 
         This whole Op may sound kamikaze to you… Maybe it is, but you don’t know what we did in Angola in ’93. Or Sierra Leone (SL) after that. Both those times, all the odds were stacked against us – plus superpower players – but we won through. Big time.
 
         Anyway, ask around! You don’t become a crack mountaineer by turning back when the weather changes, or because someone’s hurt their toe. You get there by not jacking it in. You get there by wanting the top badly enough. It’s ‘Who Dares Wins’. Isn’t it?
 
         So, as Pien’s Hawker rocks and rolls Harare-ward, that’s how it is. I pray to the war god. My prayer to Ares. Let us be lucky one more time, please. Just one more.
 
         Between prayers, my mind drifts to Amanda and the baby inside her – our fourth – that she only just told me about. I think of our son – Freddy – and our two lovely little girls, Lilly and Bess, so different from each other. I drove them all to school just last week.
 
         When I said goodbye to them, I felt a heart stab: I might never see them again. But I have to block them out of my mind. I cannot allow myself to think of the pain I will cause them if this goes wrong. I’ve been here before: in the British Army, and all the other ones I’ve been in. If you’re going to do this shit, you have to build a barbed-wire fence around your heart.
 
         I feel the engine thrust come off. The pitch change, top of the drop. I take a deep breath, tune into what’s happening in the cockpit. At least the toddlers are calm now. We’re on long finals – follow the glide path and the localiser beam – down onto Harare’s great 4,725-metre runway.
         
 
         Right, lads, who wants to jack it in? Last chance. Now. Truck’s over there…
 
         Charles, Lyle and I walk the walk. Harare International Customs and Immigration. The night-time airport is deserted. We’re the only show in town. They’re bound to give us a load of shit.
 
         We breeze through. Zero hassle. A sure sign – I cheer myself – that all’s well. For an old ‘Africa Hand’ like me, such a walk-through can mean only one thing: that we have powerful friends. These must be friends who – thanks to Mark Thatcher – love us. The air crew – following shortly – will waltz through too. Harare? Piece of piss.
 
         Charles, Lyle and I are driven along bare, scarcely lit streets. Not so long ago Salisbury. Metalled potholed roads are wet with rainy-season rain. Dim yellow streetlights glisten off the surface, as few and far between as other traffic.
 
         I can feel the poverty that grinds these people as fiercely as the blast-furnace heat of an African midday.
         
 
         A mobile phone rings.
 
         Back at the airport, the three pilots are in shit. They are held. The plane’s owner, Pien, is scared. Another old Africa Hand, Pien knows Africa better than anyone. He has done shit in Africa that makes my hair stand on end, and that’s not because of the flying. Now he tells me that this is not the usual ‘your money or your life’ banditry.
 
         They want money, of course, Pien tells me. US dollars, naturally, but there’s something nastier at work. Another cold chill blows between my shoulder blades. My Africa Hand antennae, comfy after our stroll-through, are back on alert. Is this whole thing a set-up? An ambush? Have we just ‘walked the walk’ … into a gin trap?
         
 
         I ring our fixer, Brodie, and tell him what’s happened. He’ll sort it out, he says. Relax. I wince once more at this month’s ever-ready thought: the pond life with which I have to deal – so as to make this Op work – would fill a swamp. What is it they say? ‘Lie with dogs – get up with fleas.’
 
         Déjà vu. I check in to the Cresta Motel; just as I had two weeks earlier, for the previous, aborted, shot at this.
         
 
         I set up my mini COMCEN once more: it’s a comedy Communications Centre, made up of a battery of four mobile phones and their chargers, and two stacks of Pay As You Go cards. This is not some cunning, low-tech COMSEC (Communications Security) ploy: it’s our African way of keeping in touch. Drums.
 
         One phone has a UK SIM card on ‘roaming’; another is a South African one – same detail. The other two are on different, heavily juiced-up local Pay As You Go networks. Most times one or other of the four will work, even if only for text. I also have a handheld Iridium satellite phone, never before used and therefore, I hope, ‘clean’.
 
         This motel room puts me into a cold sweat. All by itself. I had sat in an identical room two weeks earlier, as the ill-fated Plan Daisy – even more far-fetched and far-flung than this one – ran awry. Plan D. Yes, far-fetched and far-flung. But better – safer – than this one, Plan E. It didn’t break golden rule number one – men and weapons come together for the least possible time. That’s why it was safer. For Plan D, I sat through the long night: frantic to talk to the airport control tower, or the Operations Centre, or the loo cleaner, or any so-and-so, at half a dozen African airports, each unwittingly involved in that cunning plan.
         
 
         All I wanted to know: where’s my bloody airplane? That night the aircraft was an old Russian Antonov An-12 cargo plane. As I sat there – shouting at the darkness, the distance, the poor phone lines and the far-away second languages – my fever to GO GO GO had driven me crazy.
         
 
         I had screwed myself up to fight – to kill or be killed if it came to it – only to find myself trying to sweet-talk some Air Traffic Controller, half asleep, in a far-off place, with no Air, no Traffic and fuck-all Control. Throughout that night a chunk of me had been fearful. Cold, wet, ball-of-sick-in-my-gut fear. That fear had been piano wire tied taut to the door. Waiting for that moment when Mugabe’s famously nasty CIO came busting through to capture me. Or to shoot me.
         
 
         Now, two weeks later, that cold, wet ball is back. Will the air crew get out OK? If not, we’ll have to break them out – by force maybe or bribe more likely – then flee Zimbabwe. Bring Plan E to its own sorry end.
 
         But fear not! Captain Brodie – of Zimbabwe Defence Industries (ZDI) – is secretly Central Intelligence Organisation, CIO, Gestapo, and therein lies our safety. Thatcher is sure of it. So is Niek. We’re in with the Baddest of Bad Arses. He will look after us.
         
 
         I start to wonder why Niek – up there at the coalface in EG – hasn’t been in touch. Shit. Has he been captured? Even if we do speak, how can I tell that he isn’t being forced at gunpoint to string me along? So that we fly into their trap? A runway ambush. Their touchdown Killing Zone (KZ).
 
         Still no word about my 727, the one last heard of stranded in Miami. And still the Greek hasn’t got back to me about our alternative option – his 727, idle in Kinshasa. If neither 727 comes good, then this is over. For ever.
 
         I’m running myself ragged. Why not be a train driver, after all? Why not be safe at home? Why not be with Amanda?
 
         Thank God there is a point to this Op. A point beyond mere money, I mean. EG is a rank tyranny and ongoing. Sure, we’ll make money – loads – but EG is a mountain that needs climbing. The people of EG are under the cosh. EG has too much oil. It’s like the fatal gift of beauty. An ancient Greek curse.
 
         One-time Spanish colony EG is the third-biggest sub-Saharan oil producer. Yet the poor bastards come near bottom of the UN Human Development Index. Less than half the population drinks clean water. One in five children dies from malaria before they make it to five years old.
 
         Since independence in 1968, the nation’s two leaders – without an election between them – have been pilloried as being among the worst abusers of human rights in Africa. And the richest. Before Obiang’s terror came that of his uncle, Francisco Macías Nguema. He ordered the mass murder of thousands of the Bubi tribe and political enemies. One third of the population fled. Francisco was a member of the Fang tribe, one of Africa’s largest. The Fang extend from Cameroon, through Equatorial Guinea, all the way south to Gabon.
 
         Obiang, of course also a Fang, took over by force – killing his uncle – then, some say, eating him. That was in 1979. Since then, Obiang and his gang have trousered the petrodollars, letting his own people starve. With no help from outside, those people will never win their freedom. Getting out from under tyranny without help has a snowball-in-hell’s chance.
 
         This civilian population will never know the most basic public health care. This state won’t even fork out the $5 needed per new-born child for a mosquito net. A simple step that would more than halve the infant mortality rate, which stands at almost one in ten.*
         
 
         I cannot think of a single reason not to putsch this bastard.
 
         My SA mobile rings. It’s the Greek calling from a far-distant very bad line in Kinshasa. His boss says no. Fuck. The notice is too short. If we have another go, then his boss will back us all the way, he says: 727, money, weapons.
 
         I have no idea if any of that is true. It’s too late now anyway. It’s tomorrow or it’s never. If Anthony, my PA, can’t get this American crew to fly my 727 from Miami to South Africa, the Op is gashed.
 
         The same phone rings again. It’s Anthony. Hallelujah! My 727 is back on plan. Good ol’ Bill: he has the ship ready for take-off from Miami. Paperwork done. Snags sorted.
 
         0400 HRS ZULU,* ETA LANSERIA RSA
         
 
         I know that Pien has paid off the officials at the airport in Pietersburg (now called Polokwane) in the northern state of Limpopo, South Africa. The plane will land there, refuel, then clear immigration. It’ll take off OK for Harare, with 69 known mercenaries on board. Bet your arse, it won’t be just Pien’s bribe that will make sure that happens smoothly. I know. I suspect that powerful agencies, too, have smoothed our path out of South Africa.
 
         Hallelujah! At last. I get a call through to Niek up in EG. He is ready for us, he says, and all is well. Meaning that there isn’t a wall of water-filled oil drums across the main runway at Malabo International. That tanks aren’t out on the streets. Not yet.
         
 
         Cryptically, Niek lets me know that the EG Army are going to help us, and that the South Africans are going to support Severo Moto. Both of these things I know, but how the hell does Niek? It’s an open line, sure to be intercepted, so I can’t ask: our stilted, veiled speech, our ad hoc codes, won’t allow it.
 
         I put the phone down. I run it through in my mind: was there any hint – any use of one of our trigger code words – to say that Niek was under duress? But I couldn’t spot one. All clear. Or I’d missed it.
          
 
          
          
         Suddenly my Op is happening.
 
         I don’t know whether to feel happy or just more frightened. I don’t tell anyone that the Hawker crew is being held at the airport. Does Brodie have the political clout to spring my crew? He’d better have.
 
         As on our first shot, two weeks ago, I stay in frequent comms with the Boss and Mark Thatcher. The Boss is having fun with our code. His code says that the Op’s a party, the mercenaries the band, weapons the musical instruments. I wish I hadn’t started that one. Thatcher is full of it: good luck, right behind you. His code is that we’re oil-prospecting in Uganda. He’s 100 per cent on board with our E&E plan. The plan I noted in my Smythson notebook.
 
         ‘I’ll be there for you, no matter what, Simon.’
 
         All this time I’m thinking, what the fuck’s happening to Pien and the other two?
 
         Just then a mobile rings.
 
         Pien. I can’t make out what he’s saying. I shout at him to slow down. He’s gabbling. He’s joyful. They’ve been let go. Pien knows the score. Brodie has sorted out the airport uglies in nothing flat: he has flexed supercharge muscle. Brodie has clout. We – therefore – are VVIP. In favour. I thank my stars that Mark Thatcher is on the boat. The Zimbabwe sector of this Op is going to be a walk in the park. Plan E for Easy is GO GO GO.
 
         The evening wears on.
 
         I want to get pissed, with Charles and Lyle, in the Cresta Motel bar, but I can’t. To take my mind off the mission, I try to watch TV in bed, but it’s garbage. I ring round my stations: Niek, Anthony, the Boss, Thatcher. I dare not call Amanda any more: I’m beyond love.
 
         I think of Willard in Apocalypse Now, in his hotel room in Saigon during the Vietnam war. What did he say? ‘When I’m here I wanna be home. When I’m home I wanna be here…’ Boy, he got that right.
         
 
         Then the thought strikes me: I’ve gone beyond doing this shit for a reason. All I’m doing is seeing this Op through for the Op’s sake. I’m trail-stamping deep snow to the top of a meaningless mountain.
 
         The task – the climb – the Op – has a life of its own. Groups carry out tasks. The group – the team – is a runaway juggernaut truck. Big wheels are turning now. Task and group. I’m the flea on one axle. I’m clinging on. In my heart of hearts I know it: this is how big fuck-ups happen. But each time I think that, I think back to our other times: the Ops before, when I felt the same. Because then – each time – by sticking it out – by keeping the top of my bottle screwed down…
         
 
         Just keep going. We always win through…
 
         0600 HRS ZULU (Z), SUNDAY 7 MARCH 2004: D DAY MINUS ONE FOR THE ATTACK: CRESTA MOTEL, HARARE, ZIMBABWE
 
         Dawn comes. I’ve never been more than half asleep.
 
         Anthony calls to say my Boeing 727 landed at Lanseria International, South Africa. Since then it’s flown from there to Wonderboom in Pretoria. Some avionics have gone U/S – but none of the items is a ‘no fly’. Our crew are right now taking over from the bronzed, fun-loving ferry crew. The 727 will be taking off on time, for the rendezvous (RV) at Harare. But this early morning – now – I don’t know what to do.
 
         Charles and Lyle were pissed last night, for sure. They’re with me at this motel because this evening – out at the airport – they will check that ZDI actually deliver to us the weapons and ammo that we paid for. It has cost US$250,000. Cash. Charles and Lyle won’t want to run this morning. I slip into my running kit, then set off for a fast 45 minutes.
 
         As ever, to run is a blessing. Mindless joy and rhythm make me calm and focused. I feel good. The coup is going to be doing something right – and this time the Op is for all the right reasons.
 
         Then, minute by minute, the day becomes more and more of a nerve-stretcher. As I lounge about, with nothing else to do, each hour becomes my rack. The time my inquisitor. All I can do is quiz myself. Over and over I run through my coordinating instructions.
         
 
         Niek wants us into the Landing Zone (LZ) – Malabo International’s main runway – between 0200 Z and 0600 Z the next day – ideally between 0300 Z and 0500 Z. Our Estimated Time En Route (ETE) is four and a half hours.
 
         So we must take off from Harare between 2130 Z and 0130 Z – ideally between 2230 Z and 0030 Z. I must allow an hour to refuel, and an hour and a half to load the weapons and ammo. Therefore, the 727 and the men must land at Harare between 1900 Z and 2300 Z tonight.
         
 
         Our Harare gear-up time will trigger Crause’s take-off from his refuelling point in Bamako, Mali. He is flying the King Air with the new President, Severo Moto, direct to Malabo International. They will have flown out of Gran Canaria, the Spanish island off Africa’s west coast.
 
         The two trigger messages – for Crause and Moto to take off – and for the palace coup to green-light – will be sent by me, from the cockpit of the 727, via my Iridium satellite phone, to the Boss. Then I will make two more calls: to Thatcher and to Anthony, both in South Africa.
 
         While I’m still trying to lounge in the Cresta, Brodie calls me. He’s in the lobby. Is something wrong? When he arrives it’s 12.30. He insists I buy him a beer. He sips his Lion lager carefully. What’s going on? I wait for his news. There is none.
 
         Then the penny drops: he is babysitting his US dollars. This evening Captain Brodie (laugh! Captain of what?) will be given $20,000 by me – just for his own pocket – if it goes OK. He’s already had $10,000.
 
         A warmer into the bank.
 
         Brodie is large. Between 50 and 60, I guess. Black and sweaty. A lugubrious face that belies real intelligence. Well dressed for a Zimbabwean. Always formal. Not afraid of eye contact. Hard and direct for what he wants. For what he doesn’t want, ruthless. Not kind.
 
         We talk of more business in the future. All the time my radar is probing. Is he a traitor? An entrapper? But the radar can’t see through his thick black hide. Reading him is too hard, our differences too great.
 
         My loyal soldier Charles West has had a panic attack. He triggers one off in me. Would the AKs come as standard? Four magazines, a bayonet and a cleaning kit? We didn’t order them separately.
 
         Maybe we – Niek and I – should have been specific when we placed the order. To this question Charles had added a few choice Boerer slurs, against black Africans in general, Brodie in particular. I ask Brodie, and he tells me, ‘Four magazines with each weapon is standard. Standard is what you’ll get.’ Unshakeable.
 
         Brodie says he’ll be back at 1800 hrs to take us to see the weapons. Back in my room, I force myself to read a Jane Austen novel – Mansfield Park. Same one I start again later in prison. Plenty of time to finish it then. I snooze. You can blame Jane or the beer. It’s the least painful way to pass this time.
         
 
         I look at my Breitling Emergency. It’s after six. Suddenly the minutes that crawled by are racing. Too quick. Now I have to pack up, get the other two together and check us out of this dump. If we don’t work fast, we’ll get late.
 
         A part of me refuses to believe that we are going to go ahead with this. I’m scared. I screw the top of my bottle down – yet again – only harder. I wish that I was armed already, but not to shoot anyone else.
 
         From the start of our EO adventures – the business identity of our old mercenary outfit – rule number one had been ‘Don’t get captured’. To that end, there had always been a last few rounds. A last grenade.
 
         We rush to be ready. I row with the hotel – over their not taking local currency, over their ripping us off. Then we wait. We’re twisted up like corkscrews with the stress of this. Where the fuck is Brodie? We rush to wait. A thunderstorm bangs off all around us, then delivers its downpour.
 
         Rainforest rain. Tropical greed. Exotic excess.
 
         I phone Brodie. No answer. I phone the other ZDI man, a frightened little apparatchik named Daniel. No answer. The rain drives down harder. This rain means business.
 
         Anthony had already called to say that the Boeing 727 took off – bang on time – from Wonderboom, in South Africa, for Pietersburg. Then he had called again. Our aircraft had taken off for Harare. Shit! The thing will be landing in ten minutes, for God’s sake!
 
         Where the fuck’s Brodie? Where’s our wagon? Where’s Daniel?
 
         The rain’s a burst main.
 
         A pair of yellow headlights leak through the downpour, followed by another. The splashy outline of a car pulls up. It’s Brodie. Daniel is driving the second. We scowl. They smile. Relax. I smell that Daniel has been drinking. Brodie takes me aside.
 
         ‘Do you have my twenty thousand ready – to give to me? I want my twenty thousand now.’
 
         I love his spirit, and his openness. I laugh and smile at him. He and I are best friends.
 
         ‘Shamwari! My friend! You don’t think I’m going to leave Zimbabwe without giving you your money, do you?’ Africans hate that kind of joshing. Brodie hates it. Clever me. Or should I read Brodie’s plea for cash up front as a warning?
         
 
         ‘Your money’s on the plane,’ I lie, voice dropped, serious now. ‘It’s in the cockpit – with the captain…’
 
         Brodie’s phone rings. He talks briefly, in Shona, the Bantu tongue of Zimbabwe, then he says, ‘Your plane has landed…’
         
 
         ‘…and my money better be on board,’ he doesn’t say.
 
         ‘…it’s taxied to the civilian side – for the fuel,’ he tells me.
 
         We pile into two cars, with our kit. I’m with Brodie. Charles and Lyle are with drink-driver Daniel. We drive through the thrashing rain. Roads are rivers. I think about Neil, the captain, and the co-pilot of my Boeing, flying the men into Harare.
 
         Neil is the brother of Crause, the pilot charged with flying Severo Moto into Malabo, from the Canaries, via Bamako. Neil and Crause are both EO originals, with us from our first war, Angola 1992–5. I think of Neil, and how he would be loving it. Poking the new Boeing down the Instrument Landing System glide path. Down through this onslaught waterfall. Vic Falls, from above.
 
         Reaching the civilian side of Harare International – all along on running-wet tarmac – we drive on, dodging potholes, skirting the perimeter fence, right round, until we reach Manyame Air Base.
 
         The military side of the airfield. The guard room and gate look British. Strangely anachronistically British is what they are, still fresh from 1950. The old Rhodesia. Our convoy of two drives in. Damp soldiers eye us, then stand to attention. String puppets. No nit-picking checks. All salute.
 
         Brodie’s $20,000 rides on this. We’re expected. I’ve bought the bloody place.
 
         At the military camp, inside the old Rhodie Fire Force huts (the huts from which the Fire Force fought their nasty useless stupid war so well), I’m introduced to the Base Commanding Officer. Fine in his Sunday afternoon Hawaiian shirt, but looking worried.
 
         He’s been dragged off the golf course – unaware and unhappy – to sign off on something beyond his power. That’s how he seems. Not happy. My alarm bell clatters. There are four or five people with him, also soldiers, also in their Sunday civvies. They alarm me more. I look around. What danger? Nothing stands out.
 
         He nods us through. Airside. I push a squeaking metal door … through to a hairdryer of wet warm air and a welcome sight.
         
 
         The downpour has halted.
 
         I see the aircraft – there she is! My very own Boeing 727. Here. Twenty-four hours ago she was stuck in Florida. I’m hit by a freight train of feelings: pride, excitement … then memories of the great days of Angola and SL.
 
         Fear uncoils its cold scales against the sides of my belly: what is going to happen to us in the next 24 hours? Not everyone is working to my Coordinating Instruction. Not the target, President Obiang.
 
         But, as ever, it is doing which elbows dread behind.
 
         Quickly, I walk across the ramp, then towards the rear air-stair (for our kinds of shit, the rear air-stair is one of the Boeing 727-100’s plus points. Useful. We are not a customary airline!).
 
         As I reach the bottom of the stair the howl of the aircraft’s auxiliary power unit beats down on me from just above my head. The smell is hot-wired: the reek of Jet A-1 kerosene makes my heart pump. I leap up a gear.
 
         ‘Napalm in the morning’ if you like. But for me kerosene and hot jet exhaust are the smell of ‘Action Stations’ … of ‘Airborne!’ … of air power… ‘Danger’s no stranger – to an Airborne Ranger!’
 
         On board the smell of Nando’s greets me. I had forgotten how Anthony and I had planned our in-flight catering for the troops. Men call out to me. A few faces I remember from the old days, most I don’t. I greet them all as old friends. I make it to the cockpit.
 
         ‘Hi, Neil – you fuelled up OK?’
 
         ‘Hi.’ Neil looks at me to check that we are really here. Doing this. ‘We’re full of fuel. Topped off. Ready to go – and all paid for. Where’s Charles?’
 
         The refuel has been a scam, of course, our cash US dollars going nowhere near the fuel’s true owners. This is Zim.
 
         ‘Charles and Lyle are checking the weapons. I’m going to them now,’ I say. ‘Get our loading party ready, will you, please – down at the bottom of the air-stair?’
 
         This loading party is to shift the gear into the hold. Neil is ready for that because he has read the handwritten orders I gave to Anthony back in Jo’burg. I know that Neil has read those orders because I can see my note in his hand. I say nothing, but I curse Anthony: I told him that note must not come onto the aircraft. It’s one more breach of security. One more of many. Too late to matter, I hope.
         
 
         On my way back down the stair, I find our old flight engineer. Like many of the others – like Neil and the co-pilot – he is a veteran of our adventures. Gnome-like. Always sunburned. Wiry. White-grey hair, balding. Always nervy. Excited. A born pessimist. This night, and true to his trade, he looks like he’s lost something precious. A ten-rand note maybe.
 
         ‘Cheer up. It may never happen! C’mon, man – only two and a half tons of weapons and ammo… That’s no sweat…’
 
         ‘It isn’t your two and a half tons … it’s where you’re gonna put them…’
 
         He glances at his clipboard, scribbled with the hieroglyphics of weight and balance, of centre of gravity.
 
         We both know how tight we’re going to be for fuel: we’ll be shutting down the centre one of the 727’s three engines as soon as we’re into our cruise climb. Even then we’re too tight on range – and on take-off weight. Harare is 5,000 feet above sea level for a kick-off – and we’re going to be heavier than maximum for this runway. This outside air temperature … in this wind … this tide.
 
         The flight would be without a kosher ATC flight clearance. But over black Africa, pilot-to-pilot self-ATC is the norm. Worse than incorrect Flight Plans, and the wrong Over-Flight Clearances, we have no Alternate … no other airport to divert to.
 
         If Malabo proves impossible, our best option is to fly south-west for just under 300 miles to São Tomé. We may have enough fuel. But then we will be flying into another war.
 
         We’ve spoken with some of the rebels down there, three nutters from the Committee for the Liberation of São Tomé and Principe (CLSTP). They are our friends, and have promised us their help if we need it. If we land there, without doubt they’ll use us to kick off their own coup.
 
         ‘Whoops! Sorry! Wrong island. Wrong fucking President!’
 
         There are other horrors. This is March. We are close to the Equinox. Flying into the Inter Tropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ). That equals shit weather. This time of year the ITCZ is bang on top of our target: Malabo, on Bioko Island (formerly Fernando Po), Equatorial Guinea. The armpit of Africa.
 
         That’s the weather. But what if Niek is nabbed?
 
         What if our main runway – our Landing Zone – turns out to be our Killing Zone? What happens if we get ambushed on landing? We are on one wing and a prayer.
         
 
         In Jo’burg we decided – Charles, Neil and me – that, if Niek is compromised, then we’ll just fly in anyway. We’ll crash-land if we have to – then take our chances. Leaving Niek behind is not an option.
 
         Fucking hell. Why am I doing this? For the money? Sure. Right now, all the money in the world isn’t enough. I’ve got loads of bloody money anyway. I’m a multi-millionaire in sterling, for fuck’s sake.
 
         Brodie, my Zimbabwe spook, waits for me at the bottom of the airstair. He craves his 20 grand. All 20 shine back out at me from his greedy dark-brown eyes. In his car we drive 100 yards – round the corner to a run-down old Rhodie hangar.
         
 
         Charles and Lyle wait outside, standing by the other car.
 
         Charles gives me a hidden look: ‘All clear.’
 
         Inside the hangar – ill-lit and dirty – stands a flatbed trailer, sides up, without a pulling truck. No horse.
 
         Brodie waves us to inspect the piled boxes.
 
         ‘There are your weapons on the trailer. Check them, please.’
 
         So we climb up the high sides. A sickening sinking weight thumps downward to my lower gut. I climb … peer over the sides… There isn’t enough kit on here. Something’s wrong.
 
         I look across at Charles. He and Lyle have their knives out, opening a box. Some of the boxes look like the real thing but others don’t. My mind reels. Stupidly I think what a long walk it is to Jo’burg. My skin soaks me in a chilled sweat.
 
         I open what looks like a shoebox. Plain brown cardboard. Inside are one old 36 grenade, a few loose rounds of 9mm. They laugh at me. What the fuck is this?
 
         I look back to Charles. He’s holding an RPG-7 round: rocket and warhead. Lyle’s looking at the rocket while Charles looks at me, his face a mirror of mine.
 
         ‘What the fuck is this?’
 
         ‘Get down off the truck!’
 
         It’s an order. I glance around the meanly lit hangar. A circle of ten men stand silent in a ring around the trailer. Black overalls, HK MP5s slung across their chests. Relaxed, alert, poised.
 
         I know the look of these men. I’ve been one. They are pros, even if we are in the heart of black Africa. God knows … but where had they come from?
         
 
         Three or four others huddle around Brodie. Their bulky awkwardness and cheap leather jackets give their game away: ‘secret police’.
 
         My strong heart slips, then I fall. A dark abyss without bottom sucks me down and down … down…
 
         My hands are steel-cuffed behind my back. The cuffs pull my shoulders back. My neck and head forward. It hurts. They stuff me onto the back seat of some crap car.
 
         Two goons wave the barrels of their 9mm Star handguns in my face. I’m sat between them. Their breath smells of cheap liquor, kaffir beer, moonshine, hooch.
 
         God knows what they’ll do to me.
 
         We drive.
 
         No formal arrest. No hope. I’m going to die, so I think of home. They tell me how I’m going to die. Nobody knows where I am, they tell me. They’re going to shoot me. The crocs will hide me. There are plenty of crocodiles in Zimbabwe.
 
         We drive some more, then turn off the bombed tarmac. The car lurches down a sandy dirt track, weak yellow headlights barely showing the way. I can sense a river ahead.
 
         Crocodiles eat evidence.
 
         What ways out of this? Who are these people? What’s gone wrong?
 
         God knows what’s gone wrong. This is Africa.
 
         Stay loose. We can get out of this, I tell myself. Thatcher can get me out. Thatcher and the Boss can get us all out.
 
         If we live.
 
         The dirt track grows bumpier, narrower.
 
         ‘Are white men tougher than black men, Mann?’
 
         I smell the hooch from inside him.
 
         ‘We are going to kill you, Mann. Nobody will ever know where you died. Nobody will ever know what happened…’
 
         ‘Are you afraid, Mann?’
 
         They’re bullshitting me. I hope.
 
         I don’t know. If they are, then I can’t see why. What’s their game? The crocs are not thinkable. I try not to think. I feel relief, strange flakes in the Force Ten blizzard of thoughts and sadness charging by. Relief muddles me. We’ve fucked up. All is lost. There’s no suspense now. That’s a cop-out … but it’s some kind of relief.
         
 
         Sixty-nine men have been nicked with me. Fucking hell. I don’t know that they have been nicked. I assume it. I know Charles and Lyle are in irons. I saw them collared along with me. I saw them taken to another car.
 
         Brodie was nicked. He was taken to a third car. Maybe ZDI will sort this out for him and then, because we’re his clients, for us? Maybe even without Thatcher’s help… But I didn’t believe in Brodie’s arrest. There had been a touch of con about it.
 
         The car stops. I feel sick.
 
         ‘Get out! Kneel down!’
 
         Their feet kick me, hands strike my head. Ten paces from the car. Downhill. They wrestle me into a kneel. River water. I can smell my death even though I don’t believe in it.
 
         They say they’re going to shoot me … again. They shoot, now…
  
         Click. Click.
         
 
         They laugh.
 
         My knees are wet in the sand.
 
         My mind clicks.
 
         When these goons had waved their Stars at me before, I had seen their hammers were back. They hadn’t re-cocked a weapon since, so their bravado had been only that: they had no rounds in the chamber. They still don’t.
 
         ‘Are you afraid?’ ‘Are you brave?’ ‘How tough are you?’ ‘Do you think you are tougher than a black man?’ ‘Do you think you are better because you are white?’ ‘Who knows where you are?’ ‘Who cares where you are?’ ‘How long will it be before anyone misses you?’ ‘What can they do to help you – here in Zimbabwe?’ ‘Are you ready to die?’ ‘Would you like us to kill you – or shall we wound you … leave you for the crocodiles to finish you…?’
 
         Even when they do shoot me I still won’t believe it.
 
         ‘Please kill me first. Please don’t leave me to the crocodiles…’ I say. But not to them. I say it to myself.
 
         Fucking hell.
 
         Am I scared? Yes.

      
            *The Apartheid government couldn’t tolerate vices like gambling, topless dancing and inter-racial sex. Not in the homeland of the Volk. Sun City, in South Africa’s North West Province, was founded in 1979 by tycoon Sol Kerzner in the heart of the bush, Bophuthatswana – one of a series of nominally independent homelands set up by the Apartheid government. As a result, Sun City could sidestep South Africa’s puritanical laws. Today it is again part of South Africa.
            

         

            *Kinshasa, capital of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), was formerly Leopoldville, after Belgian King Leopold II. In the late 19th century, Leopold ran the region as a personal fiefdom. His agents raped it for slaves, ivory and gold, killing anyone in their way. Sir Arthur Conan Doyle called it ‘a crime against humanity’, journalist Richard Dowden a ‘place of physical and spiritual horror’. It is truly Joseph Conrad’s Heart of Darkness.
            

         

            *SA NI is the South African equivalent of MI6 or the CIA.
            
 
            *LO, a Liaison Officer, like an SBLO – a Special Branch Liaison Officer – between the SAS and the Northern Ireland Police Special Branch.
            

         

            *The precise figure is 92.3 deaths per 1,000 live births, and 155.4 per 1,000 live births in under-fives, according to the UN Population Prospects report, 2005–10.
            
 
            *A military term for Greenwich Mean Time.
            

         



      
    

  
    
      
         
         
 
         
            CHAPTER TWO
            

         
 
         OK. So just how does this whole fucking shambles kick off anyway? Sometime in late 2002, I’m introduced to Wayne Adams, a spivvy property something-or-other. A wannabe adventurer. He’s short, heavy, fat. Tod slipper shoes, his ankles buckle. Greasy, pitch-black hair, too long. Greasy skin. Rich car. Rich clothes. Centre of the Universe.
         
 
         Early 2003, he asks me (Africa Hand) to visit Gabon: he had become big mates with the President of that country – the late and unlamented Bongo.* The President, it turns out, had taken a shine to Wayne when they had met on holiday.
         
 
         My seven-day trip to Libreville is as much a waste of time as I had feared. A pain in the arse. The city is a dump, a slum, despite years of oil boom. The palace of Monsieur Le President Bongo, on the other hand, is a thing of beauty.
 
         When I meet Bongo, I feel like laughing and not because of his name or because he is such a short arse (even in high Cuban heels). What is revoltingly hilarious is that nothing matters to Bongo except the flat dollar-a-barrel tariff deals that he has with Big Oil.
 
         The Barrel Boyz.
 
         Deals like this are what an oil company calls a Sweetheart Deal – but only behind their slammed closed doors. They aren’t so ‘sweetheart’ to the Joe Bloggses of Gabon. Bongo’s dollar-a-barrel Sweetheart Deal costs his country ten dollars a barrel, if a cent. The stupid fucker Bongo may not even know that. He wouldn’t care anyway.
          
 
          
          
         Bongonomics.
 
         By the end, the outcome of this business trip farce looks to be the waste of time that I had feared from the start.
 
         Then, when I get back to London, I bump into an old girlfriend (at the time, I thought it a coincidence) who wants me to meet another, bigger big shot. The point of this meeting is to talk through the Gabon trip. To me that sounds like worse time flushed after bad, but I agree to meet the friend anyway. Big shots can be useful, and talking Bongonomics can be fun.
 
         So, in February 2003, I find myself at a house in London. That the Gabon trip had been a set up doesn’t cross my mind. I am too busy being flattered by this guy’s great INT all about my career – especially of my feats in Angola and Sierra Leone. Then there is his thirst for my opinion on other African hotspot hell-holes.
 
         When I meet the Boss, he somehow knows that I have twice been in Southern Sudan, as a guest of the rebels, the Sudan People’s Liberation Army (SPLA), only months before. Somehow he knows that the first SPLA trip had gone walkabout – over the DRC border, into the northeastern region of Kilo Moto. The second had gone walkabout in the Ethiopian Frontier Mountains.
         
 
         It is after this chatty Grand Tour of the horrors of Africa that he says it: ‘The one place where I would like to be King for a Day is Equatorial Guinea. Have you seen their crude oil figures? Their production? Their proven reserves? Billions!’
 
         After more chat, the meeting is brought to an end. Something might be possible in the Sudan (agreed). Would I think about it and set out on paper what could work?
 
         Back home I do think about it. I had liked the Boss. He is witty and smart. Very well dressed, but casual. Doesn’t suffer fools, but says so. Knows the score.
 
         On my computer, I give the Sudan (poor bastards) my best shot (again). I wittily codename my paper ‘GORDON TWO’ – when actually it must be ‘GORDON FOUR’ or ‘GORDON FIVE’. You see, I had written up Sudan plans before, for other philanthropists.
 
         The Sudan idea is to find some super – but frozen – asset – oil or gold – of which the Sudan has plenty. Once chosen, and agreed, then this asset could be brought out of the cold and into production, by the use of a private-venture military force – but acting under a government licence, and within a government partnership.
         
 
         But which government? Khartoum tyrants? Or the Kenya-based SPLA rebels? Which one of those would be a question of where the asset is. North: Khartoum. Or South: Nairobi. Or both. Then it’s just a question of picking the nastiest bunch of local banditti. Hire them for security. Train them a little. Arm them better.
         
 
         By chance I have already spent time looking into just the job: a gold mine in the Ingessana Hills, north-west of a place called Bau, close to the Ethiopia border. The mine had been developed, then abandoned, by a Chinese outfit. Profits had been high, but it hadn’t worked because of a pack of Shifta wannabe warlords.
 
         Two sides of A4 set it out well enough. But somehow I’m not surprised when, at the next meeting with the Boss, advertised as a chat about ‘GORDON TWO’, he only nods – grandly – at my paper. Then he lays it down on the sofa beside him. What he really wants to talk about is President Teodoro Obiang Nguema Mbasogo of Equatorial Guinea. Tyrant. What about a coup to overthrow him? An ARC in the coin of that year of the Iraq invasion, 2003. What about an assassination of President Obiang? Would I lead such an Op? I had worked wonders in the Angolan war, and Sierra Leone’s, and I had done so without public fame or notoriety. I had impressed him. Am I in?
 
         If Obiang is the terrible tyrant that everyone says he is, then what could be better than mounting a coup against him? It would be a good Op to carry out even if there were zero money to be made out of it. Why should the people of EG have to live under the cosh as they do? Why should anyone?
 
         And then there are the supertanker loads of petrodollars to be made, some by me, even if it is made clear that there will be no cherry-picking of oil assets. There are other reasons too. There is the big picture opportunity. Our days in Angola and Sierra Leone had been great – but I and others had felt that we had not gone far enough. Every step we took we saw how we could vastly help poor and suffering Africans. The Africans agreed. Some mighty powerful other agencies, however, disagreed.
         
 
         These agencies care mostly about oil. They want West Africa to be fragmented, chaotic, at war. They do not want a West Africa OPEC. What these Barrel Boyz want is fear and loathing… The Balkanisation of West Africa, as one CIA staff paper called it, while PowerPointing ‘the benefits’, bullet point by bullet point.
         
 
         However, goes my thought: if I and the gang could be the power behind a democratically elected and vastly wealthy Equatorial Guinean throne, then we could be a real power for good in one of the worst parts of Africa.
 
         There are other reasons. I am flattered to be asked. I want to make the money. I want to make a difference, make some lives better. I feel challenged to take on such a tough job. I want the danger and the hardship. I love the craic.
 
         You see, I had made two fortunes winning the Angolan civil war, then spent one of them winning another: the Sierra Leone civil war. But Equatorial Guinea would be something else. I would be getting into it because I wanted to be in it, not because that was where the trade winds had blown me.
 
         Anyway, as I say, it is 2003, and ARC is in vogue. I had played a part in the ‘sexing up’, the plotting, that had gone on, so as to bring about the Iraq invasion and the downfall of the arch tyrant Saddam Hussein. I had wholeheartedly put my shoulder to that wheel. So, in that case, why not private-venture ARCs?
 
         I mean, how many people does any tyrant have to kill or torture before something can be done about the bastard? Walking past someone being beaten to death in the street, or mugged in a shopping mall, is not right. We all agree, even the Guardian. Walking past isn’t something any of us would like to do. It isn’t what our upbringing tells us to do. But, other than in scale, what’s the difference between a bunch of yobbos mugging an old lady and a tyrant mugging a people? Both like their victims weak, that’s for sure.
         
 
         EG will be a tough mountain to climb. High, but it needs climbing. It will be hard. Dangerous. I want to trek back into the big mountains like a soak wants a drink. I want the job. I long to pull it off.
 
         ‘I’m in – but not for an assassination.’
 
         ‘Why not?’
 
         ‘Because it won’t work. Kill Obiang and what happens next? You could get the son – Teodorino – and be no further forward. You could get the army, God help us … a home-grown coup. Then where are you?’
 
         I say it, and I mean it. What I don’t say about the proposal is that an assassination is plain wrong. I feel that way, but I know the Boss won’t be keen on that kind of talk.
         
 
         To me, the rightness of being ‘in’ on an EG coup is clear enough. If Obiang had been a benign dictator, then I would not become part of a plot to overthrow him. Not for any money. But even though Obiang is a full-on certificated and practising tyrant, his assassination is a non-starter.
 
         So I’m in.
 
         We set to work, and that means brainstorming the options.
 
         The Boss is interested to hear how things had worked in Angola and Sierra Leone. I stress over and over how speed had been the key.
 
         ‘Speed and surprise are needed in the attack. But I’m talking about something else… I mean that we must be speedy, between the day when you give me the “Go!” – the day when you say that I have the green light – between then and the day when we actually do go. That was how we got away with what we did in Angola … and then again, in Sierra Leone. We were speedy. We moved faster than the leaks. Faster than all the government arseholes.
 
         ‘You see: we’re gonna have leaks – you can’t stop leaks … the only way round the leaks is to be fast. The one thing you must not do is give me GO … STOP … GO … STOP… That way we’ll be fucked.’
 
         I say it. Then I say it again. I think he understands it. I really hope that he understands it. If this is to work, then that sort of speed and surprise will be the single most crucial factor.
 
         
             

         
 
         I had become the ‘Go To Guy’ for military coups. The most notorious and best-paid mercenary of my generation. How had that happened? How had that murky world made me its bright star?
 
         Number two Chester Square in Chelsea was the house of my birth. Where the family lived for six years after that. Number two is Blue Plaque: ‘Matthew Arnold: 1822–1888: Poet and Critic: lived here.’ I remember the London County Council blue disc. The house.
 
         My parents had employed a nanny who’d taken me and my younger brother Richard for walks along Ebury Street, marching with the New Guard. From Chelsea Barracks to Buckingham Palace. For the Guard Mount.
 
         Nanny had shown how, in some streets, every fifth or sixth house was a gaping hole. Bomb sites held me in grim amazement. Nanny told us about the Blitz: then the V-1 doodlebug (chugging motor … then the cut, a tense silence, followed by the great bang) and the V-2 rockets (no warning of any sort, just an immense explosion).
         
 
         We were raised in the shadow of war. My grandfather Frank and father George – F.T. and F.G. – were both war heroes: the Great War for Frank and World War II for Daddy. Neither spoke about it much, but when they did it was frightening. What had gone on – in Daddy’s case at least – was still talked about even when I joined the Scots Guards.
 
         I don’t know how Frank survived. Most junior infantry officers joining anywhere near the start of the Great War were killed well before the end of it. He was wounded three or four times. Each time he went back and fought again. The doctors told him that his cricket was over. He proved them wrong, by becoming captain of England.
 
         Having joined the Scots Guards at the outbreak of World War II, my father fought in Operation Torch, the allied invasion of Libya. At the time, Rommel and the Afrika Korps were being forced to retreat westward by Montgomery’s Eighth Army, following the Battle of El Alamein. Torch was planned to pincer Rommel at Tunis, which it did.
 
         George then fought throughout the long and bloody slog up through Italy, thus ending the war in Trieste, on the Italian–Yugoslav border. By that time he was a major with two Military Crosses (MCs) and a Distinguished Service Order (DSO). He was regarded by the Scots Guards, and many others, then and much later, as the best fighting company commander there was.
 
         With war heroes and bomb sites so close to home I became locked on to all things war. War comics, or trash mags, as they were called, were our schoolboy staple. Even Nanny had an incredible story to tell: her escape from the Gestapo, from occupied Belgium, and certain death in a concentration camp. Nanny was Jewish.
 
         It was ever a surprise that our nursery short-haired miniature dachshund, Sammy, did not have his own tale to tell of wartime derring-do.
 
         Later, Nanny was to further whet my appetite. She gave me adventure books by John Buchan – all about the South African Richard Hannay – and then she gave me C.S. Forrester’s Hornblower novels. What Nanny didn’t tell me was that these books were for enjoyment, to get me reading: that they were not training manuals for life.
         
 
         The books had no warning label. They didn’t say: ‘Don’t Try This at Home.’
 
         One, I remember, The Jungle is Neutral, by Frederick Spencer Chapman, had a foreword by Field Marshal Earl Wavell that said: ‘What English schoolboy doesn’t dream of blowing up a Jap troop train, crossing a bridge?’ That was the stuff of the day.
         
 
         We would have Sunday lunch with Pop, our name for Daddy’s father. There would be a crowd of his friends and Daddy’s. Every man there had fought the Germans in one or other world war.
 
         Nanny used to vary our walks. We loved Victoria railway station, filled with steam – bursting with noise and energy. There we would gaze up at the gigantic hissing locomotives. Some of the drivers knew us by name and would take me up into their cab. But, when I was eight, Victoria station took on a nasty new mask. It became the terminus for my train to prep school, North Foreland Court, Broadstairs, Kent (and right on top of the self-same 39 cliff steps used by Buchan).
 
         North Foreland Court was a preparatory institution that took seriously its duty of preparing small boys for life’s unpleasantness. I’m sure that it was the same one used by Evelyn Waugh in his Sword of Honour trilogy. A place where only prefects and headman’s pets could sit on the radiators, to escape the ice.
         
 
         At North Foreland, the Mann Pressure Machine was on. Full blast.
 
         On day one, the headmaster told me how he had taught my father and my Uncle John, before taking me outside alone. I stood frozen as he pointed to the gym roof, all dark-red tiles except for a bright-pink one in the middle.
 
         ‘Do you see that pink one?’
 
         ‘Yes, sir.’
 
         ‘Now! Look over there.’
 
         He pointed to a distant cricket pitch and pavilion. The square roped off for winter.
 
         ‘During the Fathers’ Match of 1929, your Grandfather Frank hit a cricket ball from there, onto the roof, smashing the old tile.’
 
         I tried to look awestruck.
 
         My grandfather and father had both captained the England cricket team; Frank on the victorious tour to South Africa in 1922–3; Daddy doing it again in 1948–9. Then meeting Mummy on the boat home.
         
 
         I tried hard to be good at cricket, but found myself knocked about in the nets. I just didn’t have an eye for the ball. I hoped that I’d be good at war. The war that we knew was just around the corner. That way, I could live up to being a Mann in one way at least.
 
         Those five years at North Foreland dragged by. They were ghastly. The food! I loathed the place, and could not forgive my parents for sending me there – aged eight; – then Richard – aged seven. We had such a lovely home. What was the point? Then, at last, it was Common Entrance, the exam to go on to Eton.
 
         Three days before the exam results were due, I went to a country house cricket match with Mummy and Daddy. Daddy was playing. Captain, as usual. I was to go back to school alone – by train – that Sunday evening. Daddy took me to the nearby railway station. We walked onto the sleepy two-track stop. The station was a picture postcard: great leafy green trees all round, meadows framed between them. But I couldn’t see that.
 
         If I had failed the Common Entrance exam, I told myself, then I would disappoint. Then what would happen? Flogging? North Foreland had tried plenty. Deportation to the Colonies? Death? The hinterland behind such a failure was unmapped.
 
         Catching a deep breath first, I asked, ‘What happens if I’ve failed?’
 
         My father looked at me, puzzled. Surely he hadn’t forgotten?
 
         ‘Common Entrance, Daddy. What happens if I’ve failed Common Entrance?’
 
         There was a pause.
 
         ‘Good Lord! Well … if you’ve failed… Well, I don’t know. I don’t know. Well, we’ll have to think of something, won’t we?’
 
         The kindly train drew up, puffing. The carriages were the old-fashioned sort where each compartment had its own door, with no passageway. I opened a door, dived in and slammed it shut: a reassuring sound. I sat, secure from the outside world. Thankful to escape.
         
 
         There didn’t seem to be anyone else on board. I found the sash to let the window down. As I stuck my head out, my father, standing on the platform, smiled. ‘Don’t worry, old boy. We’ll think of something.’
 
         A toot rang out, then the steam engine puffed itself into movement. The three carriages clanked out from between the tended platforms, each with its hanging pots of startlingly coloured flowers.
 
         England, Their England: we’d read the book at school, and laughed at A.G. Macdonell’s funny and frightening cricket match. As I sat down a thought stepped up. I was going to have to look out for myself; and that might be fun. It was a signal along the track. I saw it. Knew it.
         
 
         Later, from Eton, Victoria station became a sally port – for lubricious escapades into London. And then from Sandhurst – the Royal Military Academy – it was ‘SAME DETAIL!’, to use the old drill square shout. More London escapades. Rites of passage.
 
         Strangely, it was the Navy that taught me a vital skill: to shoot straight. At North Foreland, there was an old RN Petty Officer who ran the spot-on, perfect .22 rifle range (not air rifle). He and his beard had survived Jutland, 1916, the greatest naval engagement of all time, won by Jellicoe’s perfect command of the Grand Fleet.
 
         ‘Mann!’ Chief shouted. Sitting upon his little chair and Persian rug-covered table, he glared at my target. He peered down his Brassoed brass telescope. ‘HOLY MOSES! The days of miracles are over … you wave that bloomin’ rifle around like that, sir, ’n you ain’t hittin’ nothin’…’
         
 
         I was nine. I had a rifle and a shotgun at home too.
 
         At Eton it was ex-RN Chief Petty Officer Barnes. If he said Barnes it came out Ba-r-r-r-nes. One day, after we had been shooting the 7.62 mm SLR and GPMG, he explained to me how he ran his Flag Ship strict firing range, or anything else.
 
         ‘An ’ard ship’s an ’appy ship, sir … an’ that’s all thar is to it.’
 
         Right.
 
         I was 15 – by any normal standards already a trained soldier.
 
         Even my O Levels and A Levels are down to the Army. I scraped three A Levels (History, Geography and English Lit) only because, in those days, if you didn’t have the basic O Levels, and at least two A Levels, then you could not go to Sandhurst. You could not be a Regular Commission Officer. I had to have them.
 
         I was one of the last to go through the old two-year Sandhurst, Intake 50, whereby one of those years was called ‘Academic’. I spent my time foxhunting in Leicestershire and deb-delighting in Annabel’s – whenever I got away, and whenever I could scrape together enough cash.
 
         Improbably, I won the Soviet Studies Prize in my academic year. I had a talent for it – I must have had, given how little reading I did – and became friends with two of our five-star VVIP lecturers, Peter Vigor and Christopher Donnelly.
 
         Chris went on to be the Senior Intelligence Officer in NATO under Secretary General Lord Robertson. Chris and I were to meet again, along the murky corridors that led to the Iraq invasion in 2003.
         
 
         Peter Vigor was a Sovietologist of vast depth, many papers and several books. His family had traded with the Russians since Tudor times. Peter had been chosen to go with Nixon, on his world-changing Moscow visit of 1972. He knew well many senior generals of the Red Army, and of the KGB, at the height of the Cold War. The strange thing was Peter looked just how a casting director would want George Smiley to look, in a film of Le Carré’s spy novels. We became friends, so later he came out as my guest to Münster, Germany, to lecture to the Scots Guards Battle Group.
 
         Then, at last, I was commissioned as an officer in the Scots Guards, as my father and grandfather had been before me. I turned up in Münster with skis on the roof of my car, as advised. I parked outside the Commanding Officer’s office, as advised. I marched in to report, as required. The result was as hoped. They were short of skiing instructors, so, despite the wails and curses of the adjutant, Roddy Gow, a skiing instructor I was. Straight away. Yes, sir.
 
         I too was to march up Ebury Street, from Chelsea Barracks, to change the Guard at Buck’s and Jimmy’s. When I did so, I always had in mind the places they had marched to: Pop: Ypres Salient, Passchendaele; then Daddy: the capture of the Siegfried Line, the Battle of the Bou, the Battle of Anzio, Monte Cassino, the Arno and Florence, Gothic Line.
 
         Perhaps that’s why I felt unfulfilled and bored. I felt that way despite operational tours in Northern Ireland, then at its miserable worst. I felt that way despite the Cold War rigours of the 4th Guards Armoured Brigade, stationed as we were in Münster, on the North German Plain (good tank country). Opposed as we were to the 2nd Guards Red Banner Tank Army (dissected by Peter Vigor’s technical description and his humorous broadbrush account of the likely views held by those officers and men).
 
         I was proving nothing. Not to myself at least. I was a soldier, but I wanted something more. I wanted to find a cause. I wanted to slay a worthy dragon.
 
         Then a friend suggested I see David Stirling. He had been a young officer, a lieutenant, in the Scots Guards – of course – in Cairo, during Rommel’s North Africa campaign. Then and there, somehow, he had founded the SAS.
         
 
         Stirling had been the subject of the best book Nanny had ever sent to me at Eton – The Phantom Major, by Virginia Knowles. I couldn’t believe that such a legend existed in the flesh. Still alive and kicking. Stirling had a huge reputation. Founder of the SAS. Wild man. Adventurer. Freedom fighter. Hitler had said of Stirling and the SAS: ‘These men are dangerous.’ How’s that for a write-up?
         
 
         When this friend suggested: ‘Why don’t you go and talk to David Stirling?’ I thought he was mad. It’s like saying to a wannabe teenage girl: ‘Well? Why don’t you go and have a chat with Madonna?’
 
         But I did track down David’s phone number. Then, armed with the foolhardiness of youth, I called him. Shock horror, he asked me to go and meet him. At his London club for a cocktail. I walked into White’s needing a cocktail. But I needn’t have been afraid. Stirling was amazing: amazingly charming, amazingly friendly, amazingly dangerous.
 
         By then it was the autumn of his no-holds-barred life, but he wasn’t about to settle into quiet retirement. Stirling was a ringmaster of what would now be called private military companies. A circus.
 
         It was there, during that first meeting in White’s – the sanctum sanctorum of the Empire’s club-land – that he popped a question: would I like to help out with a Coup d’État? One that he was putting together. One against the communist rule of the Seychelles? The ousting of the quasi-Marxist-Leninist tyrant France-Albert René. A bad ass if ever there was one.
         
 
         I was 21. It pleased me that such schemes should be kicked off somewhere like White’s Club, but it didn’t surprise me. My reading of John Buchan made that normal. The plot sounded precisely like the kind of thrill I craved, not least because – as cover for my job as the Op Rupert – I was to pose as a millionaire playboy. With yacht. With squeeze.
 
         Count me in.
 
         I left White’s signed up, a little pissed and feeling as though I too had smoked one of Stirling’s great Cohiba Esplendido cigars. He had puffed away throughout. My overexcited heavy breathing had made me inhale a Che Guevara lungful too.
 
         This amazing man had also signed me up for White’s itself.
 
         ‘You’d better be a member here, you know … you’ve gotta be a member of one of these bloody places…’ He saw my hesitation, and misunderstood it. (I was in fact worrying about what my father, who hated all London clubs with venom, would say.) ‘…well, yes – I know White’s is a shits’ club, of course it is, but at least we’re the best shits…’
         
 
         My only act of courage in this Seychelles Op was to leave my post in the Scots Guards. Or try to. I wrote a letter of resignation to Regimental HQ Scots Guards. I could not reveal the reason for my resignation.

         The Lieutenant Colonel commanding the Scots Guards at that time was a dragon: Colonel Sir Gregor MacGregor of MacGregor, the 6th Baronet MacGregor of Lanrick, in the County of Perth. A small, toxic, red-haired, farting, foul-mouthed, stentorian dragon. One of his kinder nicknames was ‘the King’. This was because – by his say-so – if the Scots monarchy were ever to be restored, then it would be he who wore the crown. I know other Scots who make the same claim, but it fitted Gregor, his fireworks and his Blimp self-caricature.
 
         When I went to see this dragon king, I dressed in the anachronistic fashion dictated by the then Standing Orders of the Brigade of Guards: black lace-ups, highly polished, three-piece pinstripe suit, stiff detachable white collar, NOT a Brigade of Guards tie, bowler hat, properly furled brolly.
 
         Already ringing in my ears were the rockets of my father and three uncles. One was John Mann, MC and DSO, like Daddy. The other two, as it happens, were Peers of the Realm: Lord MacLean (Chips, the Lord Chamberlain) and Lord Vernon (descendant of Admiral Vernon, and the first ever hereditary peer to declare himself for Labour). All four of them had been wartime Scots Guards.
 
         The dragon rat, Gregor, had phoned my family – told them that I was trying to resign – and asked them to straighten out their crazy child. The network was working. The Mann Pressure Machine at full RPM. The phone ringing. I was surprised that my wonderful godfather, Lord Inchcape, hadn’t joined the chorus too.
 
         ‘This is fucking nonsense, Mann! What the fucking hell do you think you are doing? …mmm, boy? What? Resign? What? Bloody hell!’
 
         ‘Sir, as my letter states, I do wish to resign.’
 
         ‘Well, you bloody well can’t. So fuck off!’
 
         ‘But, sir, I insist.’
 
         (Loud) ‘You! You! You insist! Ha ha ha. Fuck off!’
 
         (Quiet) ‘Excuse me, sir, but if you will not allow me to resign, then I  will do something that will force you to make me leave!’
         

         Now – let me tell you – up until that point in my life, this was the  ballsiest thing I’d ever done. Gregor was a frightening man. And in the  post of a god.

         (Louder) ‘Make me! Make me! Mann – if you do anything – no  matter what – I will not ask you to resign: I will place you under close  arrest! Then prosecute you! Then have you thrown into Colchester  military prison. Do you understand?’

         (Quieter) ‘Yes, sir.’

         (Loudest) ‘Now get out of this office – before I lock you up for  INSUBORDINATION!’

         (Quietest) ‘Yes, sir.’ And out I went. Flimsy. Beaten.

         Of course, looking back, the old bastard had done me a favour. He’d  done the right thing too. Stirling’s Seychelles putsch never went  anywhere. In fact, the same scheme was still bubbling around at his  South Audley Street offices years later, when I worked there too.

         Despite all that, the founder of the SAS and I became friends. More  than that, he became a sort of extra, volunteer, godfather. He was one of  those I looked to for fatherly path-finding. Approval. David – always –  was a man of beautifully dangerous ideas.

         Meanwhile, ‘The Troubles’ in Northern Ireland ground on. I did five  tours there, one way or another. The early Seventies were a dangerous  time. More than 100 British soldiers were killed each year by the  Provisional IRA – as many as in the worst years of conflict in Iraq and  Afghanistan. Despite that – from my first tour in 1973 to my last in 1980  – we felt we were going backward, not forward. We weren’t winning.

         I cannot say that it was enjoyable, or exciting, or satisfying – even if  it was our chance to be on Ops. It was boring, sometimes sickening,  frustrating … but always dangerous. Even so, I wanted to see real  action: I wanted to follow my first cousin Locky (now Sir Lachlan  MacLean Bt, CVO, DL): I wanted to join the fabled SAS – of God-like  status to us infantry. The SAS, I knew, were busy with Op Storm, the  secret war in Oman; the war to beat off communist-backed insurgents  trying to overthrow the old Sultanate, a friend of England.

         So, in 1979, aged 27, I did finally reach my teenage goal: a mountain  peak of my dreams and ambition. After six years in the British Army, I  passed Selection into 22, the Regular Special Air Service Regiment.

         Seven months later, in Belfast, one burst of machine-gun fire killed Captain Richard Westmacott, Grenadier Guards, my friend and Brother-In-Arms. He and I had climbed the same mountain – with the same goals – and with the same fires inside us – seeking just causes, worthy dragons.
         

         Richard’s killing began a skid for me. A skid downward. Outward. Out of the SAS, out of the British Army, out of my first civilian job, out of my first marriage, away from my children.

         There then followed businesses, with too little business. Derring-do, that never did. A brief second marriage. This girl, that girl, then back to this one. The lower I skidded, the less I dreamed of causes or dragons, worthy or not.

         War checked my fall, and turned my luck: the 1989 Gulf War. Peter de la Billière, an SAS general, remembered me. He put me on his London staff, as a captain, my old rank. De la Billière was the Commander of British Forces engaged in the first Gulf War (now sometimes jokingly referred to as the Great Gulf War, since World War II came after the Great War, World War I).

         The General is a great man, and good to work for. My job – as a lowly Captain SO 3 – was always different day to day: sometimes lowly and humdrum, others stratospheric and interesting.

         When General de la Billière retired, the SAS offered me a great post. More than a job, it was a closure for me. It would bring to an end the bad things that had stayed in my mind after the killing of Richard and my departure from the SAS. Two of the soldiers who interviewed me for the job, and gave me their thumbs-up, were from my old G Squadron troop.

         Then, my best friend – brother – father – Tony Buckingham – took me out to lunch. His Angola offshore project had at last become reality. He incorporated Devon Oil and Gas (DOG), and asked me to join him. I had been key in getting Tony into Angola in the first place.

         It was my dream job, and the chance for a new start as a civvy. I could trade my army salad suit for a pinstripe, try to earn some real money. The SAS offer had set me free. Despite Tony being wild for their job himself, I just didn’t need it any more.

         Tony. Shorter and rounder than me. Always laughing. Always suntanned. Noisy. Perma-rich. Lots of cars. Clouds of Cohiba cigar smoke. Toad of Toad Hall, meet JR Ewing.

         Tony made me his office manager, with a small salary and a percentage of DOG’s massive upside. That was in April 1992, when I set out as a wannabe oil tycoon. I enjoyed the challenge, the learning curve.
         

         I met Amanda. I fell madly in love.

         Then, the following January – less than a year into the job – everything changed.

         I came back from lunch alone into Tony’s office, the air thick with cigar smoke.

         ‘Ah, Simon – rebels have attacked Soyo. They’ve taken it: the port and the town. It’s been confirmed. There is no doubt.’

         Tony paused to suck his Cohiba Esplendido cigar. Then he blew. ‘Devon Oil and Gas’s Angola project is kaput – over. I’m sorry, Simon. I can pay you this month … and next. That’s it. You’d better start looking for something else.’

         For weeks I’d felt a storm, somewhere out there, winding itself up to fall upon this patch of sea. On 16 January 1993, the storm had fallen. UNITA – the Union for the Total Independence of Angola and anti-government rebels – had set my dreams on fire, and those of who knew how many others. By returning to civil war, UNITA, at a stroke, had enslaved hundreds of thousands back into privation. Thousands were to die.

         For me, with no DOG, the skids would slip once more. No pay cheque, no Amanda. I was 40 years old, without business qualifications, with a CV that made suits stare, that made insurance companies laugh, with a goods train full of baggage … and that was before the negative equity on my mortgage. My Harlesden railway worker’s two up two down. For this Mann there was no brewing family dynastic fortune.

         Fire crackled. A spark spat out.

         ‘If UNITA have captured Soyo, why don’t we capture Soyo back?’ I let fly.

         Stavros, at the far end of Tony’s power desk, laughed. He stirred himself from his own Esplendido: ‘You’re fucking crazy!’

         I ignored Stavros, as I knew Tony would. Tony sucked thoughtfully, then blew. ‘How?’

         ‘Put a scratch force together. Hit the place.’

         ‘Simon, I mean “How?”… as in “How is this to be paid for?”’

         ‘You’re Captain Cash Machine.’

         Stavros’s laugh had wilted into a worried frown. ‘You’re fucking crazy!’

         ‘Shut up, Stav.’

         ‘Tony – look – with Soyo in UNITA hands the Angolan government are out by five million US per week in lost production. That Agip onshore production – the one at Soyo – pumps at least that. We can hit Soyo for the same amount as one week’s lost revenue.’
         

         Suck. Blow. ‘Two weeks. Ten million.’ Captain Cash Machine is right. Cohibas cost a bomb.

         ‘Fine – two weeks. But … why not? Why should these bastards – UNITA – be allowed to get away with this?’

         Suck. Blow. ‘Are you sure, Simon?’

         ‘With the right money? With the right support from the Angolans themselves? Sure I’m sure.’

         ‘This scratch force – who would it be? Hereford?’ asked Tony.

         ‘Not Hereford. They’re expensive. They don’t know Angola. No. South Africans: they’re used to the climate, and to the people … and I know they’re available. Plenty of them.’

         ‘How do you know them, Simon?’

         ‘Here and there… I know where to go, once we have a green light from Angola.’

         ‘Once we get the cash from Angola, you mean. How would our costs work, Simon?’

         ‘Not more than US$2,000 a month, per man. One hundred men. And a success bonus. Two or three months, and then another two thousand, as the bonus. Something like that.’

         ‘How would we go in?’

         ‘I don’t know. Hopefully Angolan government forces will take us in, and come in with us: maybe by sea … maybe by choppers.’

         Stavros had just slurped, then puffed. ‘You are kidding, aren’t you? You’re both out of your fucking minds. UNITA are a full-on guerrilla army, for fuck’s sake!’

         I turned on him. ‘Look, Stavros, UNITA are just a bunch of thugs. Whatever they were before, they’re just thugs now. UNITA put their chop on the UN’s Bicesse Accords… Ronald Reagan’s Crocker Plan. They signed the agreement. They promised to disarm, demobilise, live by the election. Win or lose. They promised everyone. Savimbi himself, the UNITA leader, even promised David Steel and me: just the three of us. Comrade General Dr Jonas Savimbi gave his word! UNITA lost that election – back last September, which the UN, the US, the EU – and everyone else – decreed “free and fair”.’

         Warming to my task, I kicked on: ‘God knows! We all saw what an effort went into those elections. So what excuse does UNITA have for plunging a whole fucking country back into hell? Back into bloody civil war?’
         

         I finish off by nudging Stav. This is us.

         ‘But Stavros – these thugs, these criminals, are now attacking you! – us: our property, our livelihoods, our men. My bloody job. How many thousands of others are they hurting, right now? They’re warmongers. Let them have war then! How does it go in Julius Caesar? “Cry ‘havoc!’ and let slip the dogs of war!”’
         

         ‘You’re the warmonger, Simon.’ Stavros slurped, then puffed.

         ‘No – I bloody well am not! There is nothing worse for Mr and Mrs Joe Bloggs of Angola than civil war – nothing. I’ve been too close to civil war in Africa, in Liberia … in ’89. I saw it. Nothing is worse for the locals. I promise you: anything that speeds a government victory is good. If we go there, and fight for the government, then we’ll be fighting for peace – that’s what victory will mean – as well as our own shit.’

         ‘What do you say to that, Tony?’ drawled Stavros, laconically.

         ‘He’s right. I agree with Simon – 100 per cent.’

         ‘You could both be killed,’ Stavros snapped, frustrated now.

         Tony leaned forward, stabbed his intercom, then bellowed: ‘Katya, try to get Joaquim David, will you? He’s in Angola. Try his Sonangol direct line, first – then the outer office number.’

         Joaquim David – General Manager of Sonangol, the state national oil company of Angola – was among the half-dozen most powerful men in Luanda, Angola’s capital city.

         ‘Please! Tony!’ Stavros cried. ‘You’re not really going to pitch this to Joaquim David, are you? He’ll think we’re crazy people. Jesus! You two are crazy people.’

         We waited for Katya to get our call through to Joaquim David, known as JD, in Luanda. A task that often took days.

         Stavros fiddled with a box of matches, pricking the soggy end of his Cohiba with one stick, then lighting yet again the other. Once he had the whole thing burning to his exact satisfaction, he turned to Tony: ‘This UNITA business. Who is behind it? I mean: who is backing UNITA in this new phase of war? Shouldn’t we look behind the obvious?’

         ‘Let Simon and me worry about UNITA, Stavros. Why should anyone back them? They are in breach of an internationally agreed peace treaty. Shit! The Bicesse Accord that UNITA signed up to was also signed by the MPLA, as government, as well as Portugal, Cuba, the USA, the Soviet Union … and Old Uncle Tom Cobley and all, and Old Uncle Tom Cobbley and all!’
         

         Stavros again slurped and puffed, eyes closed in thought.

         I turned to Tony. ‘What do you think the chances are? Of selling this to Luanda, I mean.’

         ‘God knows. You know how oddball they can be. I like the idea, Simon. Don’t worry: I’ll give it my best shot, I promise you.’

         I stood and walked around the big desk. I looked out over London: the picture-window view, behind Tony’s chair, was the best point of the penthouse. The office block sat on the south-west corner of the Ebury Street and Lower Belgrave Street crossroads. The view from the window was northward, over Belgravia, towards the Hyde Park Hilton. Panning right from the Hilton and then eastward, you could see the Post Office Tower, then St Paul’s and, further yet, the strange modern shapes of the City.

         January cloud sat low, the skyscape already dark and grey by midafternoon. East, over the City and beyond, there hung a curtain of dark-grey, almost black cloud, squalls of rain falling upon Docklands and the river. Car headlamps were already lit, The yellow beams reflecting greasily off the rain-slicked tarmac.
         

         It’s slippery, I warned myself.

         A large jet, a British Airways Boeing 747-400, lowered itself out of the cloud, its blazing landing lights showing first, then the aircraft itself, one red navigation light a bright spot on the port wingtip. The pilot in me watched as the machine, already low, was turned to intercept the ILS localiser radio beam. A Precision Instrument Approach into Heathrow, busiest airport in the world.

         At that instant, I knew, hundreds of aircraft were being controlled in and out of London. As ever, the city’s thumping energy caught me up into its beat: a titanic engine pushing and pulling goods – goods good and bad – all around the globe.

         Once a slave colony of Rome, London itself later became the city to which all roads led. All ships sailed.

         My thoughts swung to Luanda, then to Soyo. To the Angolans. I’d been there twice, and it felt good: simpatico, safe, welcoming. Now Soyo had fallen. Luanda must be cringing before the onslaught.
         

         Jonas Savimbi had made clear what he planned for the people of Luanda: a plank of his manifesto had been that anyone who could not speak his native African language he would treat as white. He hadn’t been talking about Portuguese.

         I thought of the journey Tony and I had made to Soyo, only two months back, when everything was going so well. For the journey I had dug out my Penguin Heart of Darkness.
         

         I’d traced the Congo River on my Michelin 1:500,000 road map and had seen how apt were Conrad’s/Marlow’s words ‘…an immense snake uncoiled, with its head in the sea, its body at rest coursing afar over a vast country, and its tail lost in the depths of the land’.

         As we had flown into Soyo, the Congo estuary did look as if it was the head of an immense snake, or dragon, with Soyo perched upon the southern, the lower, lip of the monster’s mouth. From the air I had seen across to the northern side, to the top of the dragon’s head, to Banana Creek. That day, great towers of Cumulonimbus had menaced, from over the endless forest inland: columns of dragon smoke reaching up to 30,000 feet or more.

         I puzzled upon what was happening. UNITA’s attack on Soyo was an attack on Angola’s oil production, that was clear. As Tony had said, it would have been carefully considered beforehand. What did it mean? I asked myself. For so long the Angolan war had dragged on, yet never once had the flow of oil been cut. The oil industry had always been carefully left alone. This could only mean that UNITA planned quick victory, through rapid mortal blows; and was this one of them?

         Yet how could this be possible, if UNITA had disarmed and demobilised, as they had sworn to do? I remembered the meeting between Savimbi and Sir David Steel. I’d been there as David’s bag carrier, but in truth as Tony’s secret agent. Savimbi had been big, ugly, very black. He was magnetic, enigmatic, commanding. Here was power.

         Suddenly the telephone rang. Tony jabbed at his button. Breathless but victorious, Katya announced Joaquim David on the line. For overseas calls Tony kept a stentorian and old-fashioned shout. He gave JD full blast:

         ‘Hello! Joaquim? How are YOU?’
         

         Next, Engineer Comrade Joaquim David, ever calm and courteous, asked after everyone. Tony and JD went over the Soyo news. Then Tony pitched our Soyo plan. I stared out of the window, praying to my heathen gods.

         Please, Ares. Please, Athene. It hurt me to think how much was at stake. Today I could lose my job. Much more than that would follow.

         Once JD had the proposal straight he paused an age. That was his manner. Then my heart sank as he described the idea as very bad. Very dangerous. JD asked again: was this serious? A before-lunch idea?

         Tony reassured him.

         JD promised that the President, and his Chief of Staff, General João de Matos, would at least hear the proposal. That was his duty, he said, however bad an idea he thought it. He rang off, promising at the least a speedy reply.

         Half an hour later, sure enough, came his reply. JD’s courteous tones, carried round the room by Tony’s speaker-phone, could not hide his worry or his confusion. The President was sending his Gulfstream jet to Lisbon, as soon as such a flight could be made ready. El Presidente wanted the three of us to come to Luanda for meetings. Joaquim David, messenger, feared that the Soyo plan was to be given the go-ahead.
         

         Forty minutes later I walked from the office to the motorbike stand in Eaton Square. The rain had almost stopped, but the road looked slippery. My mind was in too many places.

         First, I’d been sacked. It was all over. Now it might be all on. Could it really be that, after everything, UNITA, Soyo, was to be my dragon? My worthy cause?

         To seal out the wet, I pulled up the jacket’s zipper tab as high as it would go. The BMW K1000 RS stood on its main stand. I pushed the start button and electronics set the engine running. A plus of being even a tyro tycoon was having a well-engineered bike.

         I pulled down the full-face helmet, did up the chinstrap, then pulled on and Velcroed tight my leather gauntlets. The engine ticked over, warming itself. I swept the worst of the water from off the seat with the back of a gauntlet.

         With the bike still on the stand, I swung my right leg over, steadied myself on the balls of both feet, then pushed the machine forward and off. I tried to kick myself into the frame of mind needed for a fast ride home on a slippery top, weaving through London’s night-dark, high-speed, log-jam rush hour.
         

         I was on my way to Amanda. How much I loved her. Fun. Laughter. Jokes. Beauty. Strength. Fine limbs. Wild hair.

         Launching into the spray of speeding traffic, I grin to myself. All I have to do now is slay UNITA, win the gold, then woo the girl.

         Piece of piss.
         

      
            *Omar Bongo ruled Gabon for more than four decades until his death in 2009. Bongo had come to symbolise ‘la FrancAfrique’, France’s shadowy system of maintaining control over former colonies through a web of opaque dealings.
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ANNEX E

‘The Armed Forces must target their build up as follows:

AR

The Air Force must be capable of fulflling the following tasks:

B

SEA

Defence of the two major airfields against surprise attack.

Close Air Support of ground troops.

Interdiction of enemy ground operations.

Detection, Interception and ‘force down’ throughout EG sirspace.
Maritime surveillance and ‘air to sea’ attack.

Offering logistical support to all arms s requircd.

Ability to maintain Air Superiority within EG airspace against any likely
aggressor.

‘The Navy must be capable of fulfilling the following tasks:

LAND
1
2

3.
4. Ground detection, interception and attack of incursive forces throughout EG

5
6.

NovEwN -

Defence of the two major ports against surprise attack.

Close Support of ground troops on coastal operation.

Interdiction of enemy surface and ground operations.

Detection, Interception and boarding throughout EG territorial water.
Maritime surveillance and ‘sea to sea’ attack.

Offering logistical support to all arms s required.

Ability to maintain Naval Superiority within EG terrtorial water against any
likely aggressor.

Defence of EG, the President and Government against any surprise attack.
Close Support of the Civil Power whenever an Internal Security problem
arises.

Interdiction and defeat of aggressive encmy ground operations.

territory.
Offering logistical support to all arms as required.
Ability to maintain sovereignty over EG territory against any likely aggressor.

INTELLIGENCE
As required by the above.

POLICE
As required by the local authority and by the situation within the civilian population.

BORDER CONTROL AND PARK RANGERS
As required by the border situation and by the National Parks.
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DARE DEVIL Old-Etonian mercenary
figure who tries to topple African
dictators - and fails!

Months of fun as you put him in
jail and then, just when you're
getting bored, hey presto! He's
’ out again.
Pull Action Mann’s® string

and he says, “It was all Mark Thatcher's
fault!”

Action Mann comes with:

@ 0ld Etonian tie

@ Shackles

@ Cheque from Jeffrey Archer

@ Pardon from President Obiang
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9.

10.

11

Any member of the above force, as nominated by Captain F, and accepting
citizenship, will be offercd a place in the Armed Forces, or Security Forees, of
EG, or will otherwise be allowed to work in EG in the security sector.

Any assets (aircraft, vessels, weapons etc) used in the operation will have their
ultimate beneficial ownership transferred, in writing (ANNEX D), to the
ovmership of EG. This ownership will be, in writing, under the personal
auspices and responsibility of the New President, Severo Moto, and will come
into effect prior to the operation taking place.

. Any handwritten alterations and additions to this agreement will be as bmdlng

as any other part of it. The number of additional pages are:

For Captain F and party

Date] N~
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Agreement Two 22 July 2003

‘This agreement is between Mr Severo Moto and the Provisional and subsequent
Governments of Equatorial Guinea (EG) on the one hand and Captain F and his party
on the other hand:

7

‘This Agreement Two is confidential between only Captain F and the new
Government of EG and / or Provisional Government of EG.

After & period of not greater than 60 days from our arrival in EG Captain F
will be paid USS$ 15,000,000 (to be the US$ equivalent of UK £10,000,000 on
the date of transfer).

After a period of not greater than 60 days from our arrival in EG Captain F
will be paid back any sums of money, from his own pocket, that Captain F
will have had at isk during the operation, or the build up (o it, and PLUS the
same amount again, in addition.

After a period of not greater than 60 days from our arrival in EG the
Goverment of EG, or the Provisional Government, will actually buy ino
their forces any assets procured on their behalf in order to carry out the
operation. This purchase will be at the same price as those assets were bought
for or whatever they are worth on the open market — whichever amount s the
greater. This clause is linked to Clause 10 in Agreement 1 but refers to the
funds involved rather than the legal ownership.

All of the sums mentioned above and clsewhere in this Agreement 2, and
those in Agreement 1, will attract interest in the event of late payment. Interest
will compound monthly and will be calculated at LIBOR +2%.

Within 60 days of arrival or as soon as possible thereafier Captain F will be
issued with a Diplomatic Passport for EG. This Diplomatic Passport will
properly accredit Captain ¥ as appropriate and as Captain F requests. This
passport will be kept valid and properly accredited for as long as Captain F so
demands.

Captain F will be awarded an Honorary Rank as deemed appropriate and in
line with the accreditation of his Diplomatic Passport.

ANNEX E outlines a phased programme of military procurement and build up
that EG will undertake immediately afier the New Government is i place.
‘This programme will be handled by Captain s team in all respects. Pl
note c of these steps will have been ordered before the operation
itself. This programme must be applied as quickly and as aggressively as
possible. This point is specifically a part of this agreement and is not a request

or point for later approval.
#i~ am






OPS/plates_24_online.jpg





OPS/plates_2_online.jpg





OPS/plates_19_online.jpg





OPS/a343_1_online.jpg
o
w
B e
Bilicss e

l2s s
F |17

o
w27 i
T
AB"(‘J

B*

s
~
¢
e
k]
z
e
q

;
g

aritis
e

S2F]
e

R agmR

)
el 4 g

Z3






OPS/plates_6_online.jpg





OPS/plates_16_online.jpg





OPS/a347_1_online.jpg
Agreement One 22 July 2003

‘This agreement is between Mr Severo Moto and the Provisional and subsequent
Governments of Equatorial Guinea (EG) on the one hand and Captain F and his party
on the other hand:

1.

After a period of not greater than 60 days after their arrival in EG Captain
and the others nominated by him (up to a total of 4 to be so nominated in
addition to Captain F) will each be paid USS 1,000,000.

After a period of not greater than 60 days from our arrival in EG others
nominated by Captain F (up to a maximum of 6) will each be paid US$
50,000.

After a period of not greater than 60 days from our arrival in EG others
nominated by Captain F (up to a maximum of 75) will each be paid US$
20,000.

After a period of not greater than 60 days from our arrival in EG others
nominated by Captain F (up to a maximum of 75) will each be paid USS
5,000.

Everyone in Captain F's party and nominated by Captain F will be granted full
citizenship of EG and will be issued with an EG passport to that effect within
60 days. If this is impossible for any reason then everyone will be granted
multi-entry visas and work permits —as well as citizenship and passports as
so0n as possible.

Everyone in Captain F’s party will each have documents (a letter and an ID
card ANNEX A & B) stating that they are a member of the Armed Forces of
EG. These will be issued prior to the operation taking place. The letter will

* give the holder immunity from prosecution by the New Government of EG for

any actions taken in the course of the operation to restore the New President to
power. These documents will all be duly authorised and signed by Severo
Moto.

“The letter (ANNEX A) will also guaraniee that the holder is immune to any

extradition proceedings whilst within the borders of EG regardless of
International Laws or Agreements.

Captain F will hold writien orders (ANNEX C) addressed to the force and to
Captain F. These orders will be signed by the New President, Severo Moto,
personally. They will state that Captein F and his party are contracted to act as
personal protection to the New President and are to escort him home and place
him in power as per his mandate of the 1995 elections.

G S M
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Overview of Soyo in Angola, captured by
Executive Outcomes in May 1993 (see p. 65)
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9. Suitable documentation will be required for the above procurements (End User
Certificates etc) as well as funds.

10. Afeer the arrival in EG a new company (NEWCO) will be established. The
ownership of NEWCO is still to be agreed. The ownership will be such that
Captain F will keep cffective control of NEWCO. Captain F will be the CEQ
of NEWCO and will own not less than 33% of the equity.

11.NEWCO will be warranted, contracted and paid by EG, and this contract will
be granted as a renewable five year Concession (and Contract) by the Council
of Ministers of the Provisional Government, and by the Council of Ministers
of the subsequent elected Government, as the sole and exclusive provider of
the following goods and services:

1.1 The immediate investigation and recovery of all national capital that
has *fled” the national ownership due to illegal activities of the present regime.
Initally, this will be carried out ‘no cure no pay’. In return EG will pay costs
plus a bonus of 30% of such sums recovered. After an initial period, but not
less than 60 days and not until allother financial issues mentioned in thess two
‘agreements have been paid up, this arrangement can be reviewed and changed
as appropriate.

112 The supervision, management consultancy, procurement, outsourcing
and contracting of, in UK terms, the functions of The Guard to The Head of
State, JIC, SIS, MIS, SB, Armed Forces, Police, Customs & Excise, Inland
Revenue and Environmental Control and Protection Agencies (including Wild
Life and Parks management as well as their demarcation and pairoLling and
enforcement).

113 The Guard to The Head of State will be put in place and a contract
entered into immediately after our arrival in EG. This Guard will immediately
number 100 men. The contract will be calculated on the basis of US$ 6,000
per man per month plus travel and subsistence costs, equipment and services
as appropriate. Payment for this Guard will always be three months in
advance. Therefore a first payment of US$1.8M will be required immediately
on our arrival or as soon as possible thercafier.

114 ‘The actual provision of those parts, goods and services of the above
functions as deemed appropriate. This will follow the modern trend of
‘outsourcing’. Defence Logistics and Defence (and other) Government
communications are specifically included.

12. Any handwritten alterations and additions to this agreement will be as binding
asany other part of it. The number of additional pages are:

o

Date:
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